1950

# Wycoff Company, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of Utah and Roy Hill dba Seamons Truck Line : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASES

These matters are before the Supreme Court on writs of review from the Public Service Commission of Utah for the purpose of reviewing three reports and orders of the Commission issued under the date of August 8, 1949, following a consolidated hearing of the Commission's Cases No. 3273, No. 3409 and No. 3413,

held at Salt Lake City, Utah on June 29, 1949. Case No. 3273 involved the application of Roy Hill dba Seamons Truck Line (the defendant) for a certificate of convenience and necessity as a common motor carrier of property over regular routes. Cases No. 3409 and 3413 dealt with the applications of Wycoff Company, Incorporated (the plaintiff), (1) for a permit to operate as a contract motor carrier of property, and (2) for a certificate of convenience and necessity as a common motor carrier of property over regular routes respectively. The applicants applied only for intrastate rights principally to transport motion picture film, theater supplies and accessories, and newspapers to points north of Salt Lake City.

The Commission granted the application of the defendant, Hill, and denied both applications of the plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated. A petition for rehearing was filed in each case on August 13, 1949. Two of them were denied September 20, 1949 and the third, which involved the plaintiff's application for common motor carrier authority, was denied October 13, 1949. The petitions for rehearing were all filed by this plaintiff and alleged as error all matters which are before this Court for review.

Case No. 7409 now before the Supreme Court deals with the contract motor carrier application (the Commission's Case No. 3409), and the record of this case is hereinafter referred to as "R". Supreme Court No. 7410 contains two volumes of record and involves the two common motor carrier applications, first of defend-

ant (the Commission's Case No. 3273, which record hereinafter referred to as "Rec. II."), and second, of plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated (the Commission's Case No. 3413, which record is hereinafter designated as "Rec. I.").

The general issues before this Court are the following: (1) whether the Commission regularly pursued its authority; (2) whether there was substantial evidence to support the reports and orders of the Commission.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 4, 1939 the Public Service Commission granted Northwestern Express, Inc. Contract Motor Carrier Permit No. 241 in Case No. 2308 which authorized hauling of motion picture film and related materials from Salt Lake City to the two theaters at Tremonton and the one at Garland (both in Utah), and return. The three contractees under this permit were Orpheum Theater of Tremonton (C. J. Shultz), Liberty Theater also of Tremonton (B. F. Winzler), and Garland Theater at Garland (G. R. Lawrence).

Northwestern Express, Inc., a Utah corporation has had continuous corporate existence since 1939. By the sole amendment to its articles of incorporation, the name of the corporation was changed to Wycoff Company, Incorporated in December, 1947 (Rec. I, 159), and the change of name was the only purpose of the amendment.

This Contract Motor Carrier Permit No. 241 (as well as its Utah Interstate Carrier Permit No. 146)

was ordered suspended on January 27, 1944 by the Commission due to difficulties incident to wartime regulations of the Office of Defense Transportation (Rec. I, 120).

The present principal stockholder of Wycoff Company, Incorporated, purchased the outstanding stock of Northwestern Express, Inc. in March, 1947 when all of its operating rights referred to were under the suspension order. In April, 1947, Northwestern Express, Inc. petitioned the Commission to reinstate its operating authority, and on April 24, 1947 the Commission ordered the previous suspension order cancelled and reinstated the operating rights under Permit No. 241 and Interstate Carrier Permit No. 146. (The latter authorized common carrier service in interstate commerce between Salt Lake City and the Utah-Idaho state line.) The order reinstating Permit No. 241 read, in part, as follows:

“The Northwestern Express is hereby authorized to operate upon and over the highways of the State of Utah in intrastate commerce over the same routes and under the same restrictions as specified in the Commission’s Report and Order dated October 4, 1939.” (Rec. I, 163).

The caption of the reinstatement order in the Commission’s Case No. 2308 contained the individual names of the three contractees, but the body of the order made no reference to the individual contractees who signed the contracts under the permit for the three theaters.

Pursuant to the reinstatement order, the North-



western Express, Inc. secured a new contract with the Orpheum Theater of Tremonton which was signed by D. W. Harris, its new manager. This contract was dated April 7, 1947 and was filed with the Commission May 16, 1947. (Rec. I, 119).

On March 21, 1947, the defendant Hill had made application to the Commission to serve the Orpheum and Liberty Theaters at Tremonton, and the hearing on the application was conducted April 16, 1947. No other contract carrier had been granted a contract motor carrier permit to serve these theaters since the Suspension Order of January 27, 1944. The defendant Hill did secure temporary emergency permits to serve the two theaters pending its hearing, the first having been obtained March 24, 1947 (Rec. I, 76). The principal stockholder of the plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated, formerly known as Northwestern Express, Inc. testified that he had no personal knowledge of the hearing on defendant Hill's application held April 16, 1947, and none was directed to the corporation. (Rec. I, 121). By its report and order dated July 9, 1947, the Commission authorized defendant Hill to serve the Orpheum Theater of Tremonton (D. W. Harris), and the Liberty Theater of Tremonton (Dorian Toland). The same theater buildings were involved and the identical commodities were to be transported over the same highways, but the theaters had changed ownership since Permit No. 241 was first issued in 1939 to the plaintiff, but this change had occurred prior to the reinstatement of Permit No. 241.

The defendant Hill made further application to the Commission to serve the only theater at Garland, now called the Main instead of the Garland Theater, and was also under different ownership from the individuals who signed the contracts filed under plaintiff's Permit No. 241. Again the plaintiff company was not given notice of the hearing. The Commission's Report and Order of January 9, 1948 authorized service by the defendant Hill to the Main Theater of Garland (Reed D. Wood).

All of the operating rights of defendant Hill, prior to the Commission's Report and Order of August 8, 1949 (one of the orders now before this Court for review), were held in the name of Melva H. Seamons. She received Contract Carrier Permit No. 266 by the Commission's Order of January 31, 1941, by which order the rights of her former husband, Ray T. Seamons, were transferred to her and his Contract Carrier Permit No. 29 was cancelled. On April 15, 1947 the Commission approved a lease arrangement between Melva H. Seamons, lessor, and Roy Hill, lessee, wherein the contract carrier rights of the lessor in Utah, Idaho and interstate commerce, were leased to the lessee. This lease was for five years' duration, subject to termination on 30 days' advance written notice (Rec. I, 88), and was to expire February 1, 1951. (Rec. I, 82). No mention is made therein of any rights other than those as a contract motor carrier. All contracts then existing, or future, were to be made by mutual agreement of the

lessor and lessee, and were to be in the name of the lessor (Mrs. Seamons) only.

On May 21, 1948 the defendant Hill made application in his own name for common motor carrier authority from Salt Lake City to Lewiston and Garland, serving all the theaters covered by the Utah contract carrier permit that was leased from Melva H. Seamons, including various off-route points. (Rec. II, 1). By this application the defendant sought to change his operation as lessee of Contract Motor Carrier Permit No. 266 to common motor carrier authority. The plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated was a protestant at the hearing held June 29, 1949 before the Commission, which also heard two applications of the plaintiff. All three applications were consolidated for purposes of the hearing by express consent of all concerned (Rec. I, 35).

On August 8, 1949 the Commission issued its report and order concerning the defendant's application and thereby granted the defendant Hill, in his own right, Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 874 (Rec. II, 14 to 18) which enlarged his operating rights to the same territory he formerly operated only as a lessee of Contract Motor Carrier Permit No. 266, issued to Melva H. Seamons, which was cancelled by the order. The report and order of the Commission makes no reference to Melva H. Seamons or the lease arrangement under which defendant Hill operated.

Wycoff Company, Incorporated filed its application for a permit to operate as a contract motor carrier to serve the Orpheum Theater at Tremonton and the Main

Theater at Garland on May 25, 1949 (R. 1 to 3). These two theaters were under the management of Allied Theatres Company. This application was filed only after the Commission advised the plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated that it had no authority to serve any theaters in either Tremonton or Garland, and that any service rendered to that area would be in violation of the Commission's orders. A contract had been secured by the Wycoff Company, Incorporated with Allied Theatres Company, operators of Orpheum Theater at Tremonton and the Main Theater at Garland (Hugo Jorgenson) which was dated May 1, 1949 and was filed May 6, 1949 (R. 14, 15). A contract dated June 24, 1949 (five days before the hearing) between defendant Hill and the Orpheum Theater at Tremonton and Main Theater at Garland (Allied Theatres Company, by Hugo Jorgenson) was brought into the hearing but was never approved by the Commission, nor was an application for authority in addition to the contract itself filed by defendant Hill (Rec. I, 51, 52; 165).

On June 13, 1949, Wycoff Company, Incorporated made application for authority to serve as a common motor carrier over regular routes from Salt Lake City to the Utah-Idaho line over U. S. Highways 91 and 89, serving the off-route points of Lewiston and Hyrum (Rec. I, 1). This application did not duplicate the area to be served by the plaintiff's contract motor carrier application.

Since the reinstatement of Northwestern Express, Inc.'s interstate operating rights in 1947 and subsequent additions thereto, that corporation has operated daily

schedules, seven days a week over the highways in Utah through the areas involved by its applications, transporting the identical commodities to points in Idaho under authority from the Interstate Commerce Commission and the Public Utilities Commission of Idaho. Common motor carrier authority was also held in the plaintiff company's name from the Utah Commission to transport ice cream and newspapers in intrastate commerce over these same highways and through Tremonton and Garland (Rec. I, 140-1). For this reason there can be no question that the highways over which the Wycoff Company, Incorporated desires to operate are not unduly burdened and that the granting of the application will not unduly interfere with the traveling public.

Wycoff Company, Incorporated operates five daily schedules going north, four of which are bound for points in Idaho, leaving Salt Lake City as follows:

1. Leaves at 12:15 o'clock A.M. via Tremonton to Burley, Idaho;
2. Leaves at 11:30 o'clock A.M. via Tremonton and Pocatello to St. Anthony, Idaho;
3. Leaves at 1:30 o'clock P.M. via Brigham City and Logan, Utah to Preston, Idaho;
4. Leaves at about midnight via Tremonton and Pocatello to St. Anthony, Idaho;
5. Leaves at 2:30 o'clock P.M. to Ogden, Utah. (Rec. I, 111).

Defendant Hill operates one schedule daily of two trucks going north from Salt Lake City, both leaving at

approximately 2:00 o'clock A.M. (Rec. I, 74).

Insofar as it could be considered pertinent to a need for a change of service from a contract carrier to a common carrier by defendant Hill, the following evidence or lack of evidence is pointed out:

Only one public witness appeared in the proceedings, and he appeared to support the applications of plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated to serve the Tremonton-Garland area, and to serve as a carrier in emergencies when the defendant Hill could not provide the needed service due to his limited one-schedule-a-day operation.

(Testimony of defendant Hill, on cross-examination):

“Q. Now, what is the need of a common carrier authority up there (in the area covered by your application)?

“A. Oh, you don't have to bother with these contracts. It keeps somebody else from coming in without your being called into a hearing, just a hearing without us knowing anything about it. That is about all.

“Q. Is there any need for the public, so far as they are concerned, for a common carrier authority?

“A. No. I wouldn't say that there was.

“COMMISSIONER HACKING: Well, the fact of the business is, according to his evidence, all the public is using his contracts.

“MR. HANSON (Attorney for Hill): In fact, he is a common carrier now, but he doesn't have the rights.” (Rec. I, 70, 71)

Mr. McMahon, the public witness, is manager of Republic Pictures in Salt Lake City, which is one of the dozen film distributing companies which serve the theaters in Utah, Idaho, Montana, Wyoming and Nevada. He testified on behalf of plaintiff that all of the other film distributing companies operate on substantially the same basis as his company, and that he had worked for three of them. His testimony was that there was no speedy service readily available to Tremonton and Garland (Rec. I, 131), and to Logan (Rec. I, 125) except by the defendant Hill who operated only once each day. He stated that no other carrier is authorized by the Commission to render the personalized, specialized, speedy service the industry requires into that area. (Rec. I, 126; 131; also see 167).

(Testimony of Mr. McMahon, direct examination):

“Q. Are you here to support the application of Wycoff Company?

“A. Yes sir.

“Q. And do you feel that an additional carrier is to the advantage of the industry?

“A. I do, because I have explained before it is necessary to get the (motion picture) print there.

“Q. Have you used the services of Wycoff in the state otherwise

“A. Yes. We used him when he started down to Price and Helper.

“Q. Is this service now satisfactory

“A. Very satisfactory. I believe every ex-

change manager and booker will say it is satisfactory.” (Rec. I, 131, 132)

---

“Q. Now, will you state whether or not one service a day leaving Salt Lake at approximately 2:00 A.M. is adequate for your business?

“A. Well, it depends — I mean, emergencies come up, and that is something we can’t foresee.

“Q. Do you need an extra service to take care of these emergencies?

“A. I think something adequate should be set up for that. \* \* \*” (Rec. I, 127)

The Court should be advised that there is not a single word from a public witness showing any need for a change from contract carrier to common carrier service. There is not even any evidence from the defendant-applicant Hill himself showing any necessity for common carrier service. The evidence is undisputed that the theaters in the communities of Tremonton and Garland desire to be served by a contract carrier, and no evidence of any kind was presented to show the need for the defendant to change his type of service. The defendant Hill himself even had the owner of theaters in these communities sign on a contract to obtain contract carrier service five days before the date of the hearing.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### A. Plaintiff’s Contract Motor Carrier Application

1. The Commission did not regularly pursue its



authority but acted contrary to statute by denying the plaintiff permission to serve the two theaters involved.

2. The Commission did not regularly pursue its authority but acted arbitrarily or capriciously by denying the plaintiff permission to serve the two theaters involved.

3. The Commission did not regularly pursue its authority but acted contrary to its own rules and regulations by denying the plaintiff permission to serve the two theaters involved.

#### **B. Defendant's Common Motor Carrier Application**

4. The Commission did not regularly pursue its authority but acted without statutory authority in granting unlimited common carrier rights to the lessee of a contract carrier permit.

5. There is no competent evidence to sustain the finding that public convenience and necessity require that the defendant's truck line be authorized to operate as a common motor carrier.

#### **C. Plaintiff's Common Motor Carrier Application**

6. The finding of the Commission that public convenience and necessity does not require the service proposed to be rendered by the plaintiff is not supported by substantial evidence.

7. The findings of the Commission that there is already sufficient service available and that the granting of a certificate to plaintiff would be detrimental to existing transportation service and contrary to the best interests of the people in the area, are not supported by substantial evidence.

## ARGUMENT

**A. Plaintiff's Contract Motor Carrier Application**

THE COMMISSION DID NOT REGULARLY PURSUE ITS AUTHORITY BUT ACTED CONTRARY TO STATUTE BY DENYING THE PLAINTIFF PERMISSION TO SERVE THE TWO THEATERS INVOLVED.

The plaintiff, Wycoff Company, Incorporated, contends that after the Commission granted it a statutory contract motor carrier permit which has never been revoked, or cancelled, that the benefits contemplated by the legislature under the permit were withheld by the Commission.

The legislature has never defined the term "contract motor carrier permit" although it is used several times in Title 76, Chapter 5, U.C.A. 1943 as amended.

It is clear that it shall be unlawful for any contract carrier to operate in either interstate or intrastate commerce without having first obtained this "permit" after proper application has been made and certain facts determined. (76-5-21, 76-5-22, U.C.A. 1943, as amended). It is also apparent that the Commission is given certain powers to "suspend, alter, amend or revoke any \* \* \* permit \* \* \* issued" (76-5-33, U.C.A. 1943).

Without question a "permit" is a thing of value, for under 76-5-40, U.C.A. 1943, the legislature provided that upon the death of a holder it "shall be transferable the same as any other right or interest of the person's estate," subject to enumerated conditions.

The Federal Motor Carrier Act of 1935, as amended, is more specific than the Utah enactment in specifying the nature of a contract motor carrier permit and the rights it confers:

“The (Interstate Commerce) Commission shall specify in the permit the business of the contract carrier covered thereby and the scope thereof and shall attach thereafter, such reasonable terms, conditions, and limitations consistent with the character of the holder as a contract carrier as are necessary to carry out, with respect to the operations of such carrier, the requirements established by the Commission \* \* \* : *Provided, however,* That no terms, conditions, or limitations shall restrict the right of the carrier to substitute or add contracts within the scope of the permit, as the development of the business and the demands of the public may require.” (49 U.S.C. 309 (b)).

It is apparent that the federal statute clearly states that the Interstate Commerce Commission shall not restrict the freedom to contract of the holder of a permit by limiting to a specific shipper the authority granted under said permit.

The plaintiff contends that the Utah Motor Carrier Act, grants to the holder of a “permit”, by implication, some of the same rights clearly specified in detail under the federal act. One of these rights is for the holder of a “permit” to serve the new management of any of the industries authorized to be served by its “permit” when there is no other change in the transportation service — i.e., when the same commodities are to be shipped

over the same highways between the same points of origin and destination, but instead of going to, say, the Orpheum Theater at Tremonton, with C. J. Shultz as manager or owner, they are directed to the same Orpheum Theater at Tremonton with D. W. Harris or Allied Theatres Company as owner. (See statement of facts).

The Commission, by its actions, has taken the position that nothing was reinstated by its Reinstatement Order of April 24, 1947, which reactivated Plaintiff's Contract Motor Carrier Permit No. 241. It has never permitted the plaintiff to serve anyone under this permit although Wycoff Company, Incorporated, (formerly named Northwestern Express, Inc.) has secured several contracts with the parties who currently managed or owned the theaters which were covered by the original contracts filed in 1939 under Permit No. 241. These new contracts covered the identical commodities to be shipped over the same highways and routes, with the same physical, geographic location (i.e., the same theater buildings) for a destination, and were signed by the theater management currently in existence after Permit No. 241 was reinstated.

The Commission has taken the position that the parties who signed the original contracts in 1939 under Permit No. 241 were the only parties authorized to be served thereunder, and that in order for the plaintiff to serve the new owners it would have to proceed as in the first instance for a new permit with a complete new hearing of evidence.

It should be borne in mind that Permit No. 241 was not reinstated without knowledge that the management of these theaters had changed. Still the Commission recognized its duty to reinstate the plaintiff's permit, but after the reinstatement rendered it valueless by limiting its use to individuals who no longer existed.

Contract Motor Carrier Permit No. 241 has never been revoked by the Commission and the plaintiff has tried every method it knows to utilize it without violating instructions from the Commission, and now Wycoff Company, Incorporated, asks this Court to determine what its rights are under it. The plaintiff contends that the "permit" referred to in the statute is broader than the persons named as contractees (i.e., the particular manager or owner of a business — here, theaters). This is because the power of the Commission does not include the power to regulate a contract carrier to this degree. The interest of the public, for whom the Commission acts in regulating contract carriers, is not to control with *whom* they may contract but to guard against "unduly burdening" the highways; to see that there is not "undue interference" with the traveling public, and to protect the best interests of the general public in the state as a whole, and in the local communities to be served (76-5-21, U.C.A. 1943, as amended by the laws of Utah, 1943, Chap. 105.) (Also compare the nature of the findings the Commission is to make as conditions precedent to granting an interstate "permit" and a temporary "permit" which are similar to those

required for an intrastate "permit" — 76-5-22 and 76-5-23.)

In determining the nature of a "permit", it is to be remembered that the legislature has drawn a distinction between the amount of regulation to which a contract motor carrier, which operates under a "permit," and a common carrier, which must secure a certificate of convenience and necessity, are to be subjected. Mr. Justice Wolfe, in *McCarthy v. Public Service Commission*, (Utah Supreme Court, August 25, 1947), 184 P. 2d 220, 227, treats this matter very clearly:

"Although the legislature gave the commission power to control contract motor carriers it did not require the commission to exercise the close control over contract carriers as it must exercise over common carriers. For example, as to common motor carriers the commission 'is vested with power and authority, *and it shall be its duty*, to supervise and regulate all common motor carriers and fix, alter, regulate and determine just, fair, reasonable and sufficient rates, fares, charges, etc.' (Italics added) Sec. 76-5-17.

"However, as to contract motor carriers, while they must obtain a permit, the legislature said: 'The commission is hereby vested with power and authority and it *may* supervise and regulate every contract motor carrier in this state and fix and approve reasonable maximum or minimum rates, fares, charges and *classifications*, and to adopt *reasonable* rules and regulations pertaining to all such motor carriers' (Italics added) Sec. 76-5-24, U.C.A., 1943." (Italics by the Court)

The opinion continues by pointing out that this discre-

tionary power of the Commission exists to regulate contract motor carriers —

“\* \* \* to practically the same extent as is authorized for common motor carriers — provided the commission determines that such close control is reasonably required. However, merely because the power and authority to regulate contract motor carriers is given, that power and authority need not be exercised unless required for the benefit of the public and then only to the extent required” (*Ibid*, 227).

The plaintiff knows of no determination having been made in this case why such regulation is required for the benefit of the public, and states that this Court has held the Commission does not have power to change a contract carrier into a common carrier even when the contract carrier makes application for the change without substantial evidence to show a public need for the change (*McCarthy v. Public Service Commission*, 184 P. 2d 220; also see Point V of this brief, *infra*.)

The most apparent distinction between the rights conferred upon a common motor carrier under a certificate of convenience and necessity and a contract motor carrier under a permit is this: in the former *the public chooses the carrier*, while in contract carrier service, *the carrier reserves the right to choose whom of the public it will serve*. The statutory definitions are as follows (76-5-13, U.C.A. 1943):

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