1950

Wycoff Company, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of Utah and Roy Hill dba Seamons Truck Line : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Plaintiff’s contentions, as set out in his statement of points, must be considered in the light of Section 76-6-17, U.C.A. 1943, which provides that the findings and conclusions of the commission on questions of fact

shall be final and shall not be subject to review. It has repeatedly been held that in reviewing cases certified to the court from the Public Service Commission, the review is limited to ascertain whether or not the commission had before it substantial evidence upon which to base its decision, and that only in the event that the commission acted arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably, can the order be set aside. *Goodrich v. Public Service Commission of Utah*, 198 Pac. (2d) 975.

I.

THE EVIDENCE JUSTIFIED THE COMMISSION'S ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF'S CONTRACT MOTOR CARRIER APPLICATION TO SERVE THE TWO THEATRES INVOLVED.

The defendant had satisfactorily served the Orpheum Theatre at Tremonton under a permanent contract carrier permit since July 9, 1947, and had served the Main Theatre at Garland under permanent contract authority since January 9, 1948. Before these dates he served both theatres under temporary permits issued by the commission and was so serving said theatres when Milton Wycoff, president of plaintiff corporation, obtained a contract from the Allied Theatre Company by cutting the prices for double feature films from \$3.00 to \$2.50 per change (R. 54). When Jorgenson, the president of the Allied Theatres Company, learned that Hill would meet Wycoff's rate, he gave Hill a contract (R. 51), indicating that Hill's service had been satisfactory. It is significant that Jorgenson did not

appear at the hearing in support of plaintiff's application.

The plaintiff's claim for authority was based upon contract permit No. 241, issued the Northwestern Express Company, Inc. in 1939, wherein the commission granted authority to serve contractees who were managing the three theatres at that time. These contracts had long ceased to exist. The theatres were under a different ownership when the defendant started serving them. It is the defendant's contention that when the contract ceased to be in effect, the authority of the plaintiff's predecessor to serve the contractees ceased, as there was no further reason for the authority. Plaintiff's contention that the reinstatement order of April 24, 1947, reactivated the right to serve theatres in Tremonton and Garland really amounts to an assertion that a contract carrier's authority is as extensive as that of a common carrier. If plaintiff's position is correct, the result would be to make every contract carrier a common carrier, with the right to select only those customers whom he would serve and to refuse to serve the public generally. Such a situation certainly would not benefit the general interest of the public in efficient service. The common carrier, being left with only the unprofitable part of the service, would soon be out of business.

It is interesting to note that although the plaintiff contends that it is not necessary to petition the commission to serve new contractees after a permit has once been granted, that in this case he did exactly that

by filing his petition for contract authority. Also, why did plaintiff obtain a new contract with the Allied Theatres Company if he felt his rights under the old contracts were still in existence? The commission's order of April 24, 1947, reinstating the rights of the Northwestern Express Company, Inc., merely reactivated those rights *still existing* and permitted the defendant to operate over the same routes and with the same restrictions. Undoubtedly this company had other rights under suspension which the plaintiff acquired when the assets were purchased, but the commission could not reinstate rights based on contracts that were no longer in existence.

There is no evidence of other contracts secured by plaintiff with the parties who operated the theatres covered by the original contracts filed in 1939, after said reinstatement order of April 24, 1947, as contended on page 16 of the plaintiff's brief. The commission by its order denying the plaintiff contract carrier authority, merely decided that the defendant should continue to serve the same two theatres of the common carrier that he had served in the past as a contract carrier. There are only three theatres to be served in the Garland and Tremonton area, and the commission, by its order, determined that the interests of these theatre operators could best be served by one common carrier than by two contract carriers. If plaintiff's petition to serve two of the theatres had been granted, the defendant still would have been required to serve the one theatre that had not contracted with the plaintiff, the result of which

would compel him to serve the same territory with a two-thirds decrease in the available business and resulting loss of revenue, which would eventually cause defendant to discontinue entirely his service to the Tremonton and Garland area.

The commission, in the interest of the general public, may regulate contract carriers to the same extent as it does common carriers (Sec. 76-5-24, U.C.A. 1943). In the case of *Goodrich v. Public Service Commission*, supra, this court refused to set aside an order of the commission denying the carrier authority to serve four additional contractees who appeared at the hearing in support of the carrier's petition, upon the ground that such would result in financial loss to the existing common carrier, to the detriment of the welfare of the public in the area to be served. This decision is also authority that a contract carrier is not authorized to serve additional contractees upon securing a contract, but must also petition the commission for authority to furnish such additional service.

II.

THE COMMISSION ACTED LEGALLY IN GRANTING COMMON MOTOR CARRIER AUTHORITY TO THE DEFENDANT, WHO WAS LESSEE OF THE OPERATING RIGHTS, AND MELBA SEAMONS.

There is nothing in the Utah statutes defining the power of the Public Service Commission stating that a lessee of contract authority cannot apply for common carrier authority. The commission permitted the defen-

dant to lease the operating rights of Melba Seamons under a five year contract on April 15, 1947. There was some attempt at the hearing on the part of plaintiff to becloud the issues by asserting that Roy Hill was applying for common carrier authority in his own name, to the detriment of the lessor, Melba Seamons. However, this contention was answered when Mrs. Seamons appeared as a witness in support of her brother's petition. The lease contract between her and the defendant is no concern of the plaintiff. The only issue before the commission was whether or not granting common carrier authority to the defendant was in the public interest, which it decided in the affirmative. Mrs. Seamons stated that she favored the granting of defendant's petition (R. 106-107). At the end of the lease, if it is not renewed, this authority would revert to the lessor, subject to the approval of the commission. The public is adequately protected by the statutory power of the commission to revoke the operating rights of any carrier when the public welfare requires it.

The evidence established that the commission was within its authority in granting defendant's petition to operate as a common carrier. Granting that plaintiff is correct in its assertion that there were no witnesses who testified on the need for a common carrier, there were also no protestants, other than the plaintiff, who were interested as a petitioner for the same authority. The situation here is different from that in *McCarthy v. Public Service Commission*, 184 Pac. (2d) 220, wherein the Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Company,

an existing common carrier, protested the granting of common carrier authority to a number of independent truckers, who had previously operated as contract carriers of gravel. In this case the evidence is conclusive that the defendant served every theatre in the territory which he proposed to serve as a common carrier, other than two government owned theatres (R. 39), whereas plaintiff served no theatres in this territory (R. 151). There were no complaints on service from any shipper served by the defendant. The only witness who appeared at the hearing was Mr. McMahon, and his testimony was as favorable toward the defendant as it was toward the plaintiff (R. 131). At the hearing Mr. Wycoff did say that every exchange manager in Film Row would testify in support of his petition (R. 140), but Mr. McMahon was the only one who appeared.

The principal reason the plaintiff gave in support of its contention that it was better qualified to operate as a common carrier than the defendant Hill was that it had more trucks operating than defendant; that it operated five regular schedules north out of Salt Lake City, Utah in interstate commerce; that occasionally it was necessary for plaintiff to make special trips to haul film to territories served by the defendant; however, Mr. Wycoff had no records of such special service (R. 171). The defendant Hill testified that he was in a position to make special trips when necessary and had done so in the past (R. 89).

Defendant contends that under the situation exist-

ing, wherein he was satisfactorily serving every theatre as a contract carrier in the territory, which he petitioned to serve as a common carrier, that the general public is better served by him as a common carrier than as a contract carrier. As a common carrier he has a mandatory duty to serve the public generally instead of just those individuals with whom he has contracts. Also, as a common carrier, he must submit to more detailed tariff regulation by the commission, which is in the public interest, particularly when his operation serves every privately owned theatre in northern Utah.

There is very little difference in the requirements to obtain a certificate of convenience and necessity to operate as a common motor carrier (see Sec. 76-5-18, U.C.A. 1943) and the requirements to operate as a contract motor carrier (see Sec. 76-5-21, U.C.A. 1943, as amended by Section 3, Chapter 105, page 209, Laws of Utah 1945). In the former, the commission must be satisfied with the applicant's financial ability to render this service. In the latter this requirement is lacking.

There was no claim by plaintiff that defendant's financial ability to serve as a common carrier was insufficient. Therefore, it would seem that if the defendant were qualified to act as a contract motor carrier, that he was qualified to serve as a common motor carrier and the commission felt that the public would benefit, if he were granted common motor carrier authority. The evidence was that the plaintiff had forty-two trucks, thirty-eight to forty-two employees, and carried nearly

all the film from Salt Lake City to Southern Utah (R. 138, 139). Granting it common carrier authority in Northern Utah would result in plaintiff obtaining a virtual monopoly on the carriage of all film in the state of Utah, which, we submit, is not conducive to the best interests of the public generally.

Mr. Wycoff's contention that his company desires authority only to serve theatre owners in Northern Utah in time of emergencies is a subterfuge by which he hopes to eventually take over the operations of the defendant. If plaintiff's petition for common carrier authority is granted, the defendant can expect the type of competition shown by plaintiff when he cut-rates to the Allied Theatre Company to obtain a contract from it.

CONCLUSION

The defendant respectfully submits that there was sufficient evidence to sustain the order of the commission granting common motor carrier authority to the defendant and denying the petition of the plaintiff for such authority, that the order of the commission denying authority to the plaintiff to operate as a contract carrier to the theatres in Tremonton and Garland should likewise be affirmed.